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BEFORE THE IOWA WORKERS’ COMPENSATION COMMISSIONER

______________________________________________________________________



  :

ROBERT A. BURNS,
  :



  :                        File Nos.
5038292

Claimant,
  :



5042748


  :



5042749
vs.

  :



  :                       A R B I T R A T I O N
LINN COUNTY, IOWA,
  :



  :                            D E C I S I O N

Employer,
  :


Self‑Insured,
  :          Head Note Nos.:  1100; 1801; 1802;

Defendant.
  :          1803; 1804
______________________________________________________________________

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Claimant, Robert Burns, filed petitions in arbitration seeking workers’ compensation benefits from Linn County, Iowa, self-insured employer, as defendant, as a result of stipulated injuries sustained on January 10, 2011 and February 27, 2012, and an alleged injury sustained on November 17, 2012.  This matter came on for hearing before Deputy Workers’ Compensation Commissioner, Erica J. Fitch, on March 5, 2014, in Cedar Rapids, Iowa.  The record in this case consists of claimant’s exhibits 1 through 12, defendant’s exhibits A through D, and the testimony of the claimant and Steve Estenson.  The parties submitted post-hearing briefs, the matter being fully submitted on March 31, 2014.

ISSUES

In File No. 5038292 (Date of Injury:  January 10, 2011 Bilateral Shoulders) 

The parties submitted the following issue for determination:

1. The extent of claimant’s industrial disability, including whether claimant is permanently and totally disabled.

The stipulations of the parties in the hearing report are incorporated by reference in this decision.  

In File No. 5042748 (Date of Injury:  February 27, 2012 Right Knee) 

The parties submitted the following issues for determination:

1. Whether the work injury of February 27, 2012 is a cause of temporary disability; 

2. Whether claimant is entitled to a running award of temporary disability benefits from September 11, 2013 and continuing during the period claimant remains temporarily disabled pursuant to Iowa Code section 85.33 or 85.34; 

3. Whether claimant is entitled to payment of various medical expenses; and 

4. Whether claimant is entitled to reimbursement for an independent medical examination pursuant to Iowa Code section 85.39.

The stipulations of the parties in the hearing report are incorporated by reference in this decision.  

In File No. 5042749 (Date of Injury:  November 17, 2012 Hearing Loss and Tinnitus) 

The parties submitted the following issues for determination:

1. Whether claimant sustained an injury on November 17, 2012 which arose out of and in the course of his employment; 

2. Whether the alleged injury is a cause of permanent disability; and 

3. The extent of permanent disability, including whether claimant is permanently and totally disabled. 

The stipulations of the parties in the hearing report are incorporated by reference in this decision.  

In all files:

The parties submitted the following issue for determination:

1. Specific taxation of costs. 

The stipulations of the parties in the hearing reports are incorporated by reference in this decision.  

FINDINGS OF FACT

The undersigned, having considered all of the evidence and testimony in the record, finds:

Claimant’s testimony was consistent as compared to the evidentiary record and his demeanor at the time of evidentiary hearing gave the undersigned no reason to doubt claimant’s veracity.  Claimant is found credible.

Claimant was 61 years of age at the time of hearing.  Claimant graduated high school in 1970; his only postsecondary education consists of completion of truck driving school, following which he received his CDL license.  Claimant’s work history consists of farm labor for approximately 10 years, truck driving for approximately 3 ½ years, self‑employment performing mowing and pool maintenance for 5 years, miscellaneous short term part-time work, and his work for defendant.  Claimant described himself as in generally good health when he began his employment with defendant.  (Claimant’s testimony)

In 1989, claimant began work at defendant.  He began in the conservation department, performing mowing and some heavy equipment operation.  Thereafter, claimant worked for approximately one year operating heavy equipment at the landfill, hauling dirt.  After that one year, claimant bid into a position as a road grader operator in the road department/county engineering department.  Claimant remained in this position for the rest of his employment with defendant, although his set route changed locations.  On his set route, claimant was responsible for maintenance of roads, including potholes, culverts, and tree cutting.  His duties required him to split his time equally inside and outside the equipment.  (Claimant’s testimony)

Claimant developed shoulder problems when his work began aggravating his shoulders, which had previously been surgically treated.  In 2004, defendant directed claimant for care with orthopedic surgeon Albert Coates, M.D.  Following MRIs, Dr. Coates opined claimant was a candidate for bilateral shoulder surgery.  Claimant testified he declined surgery when advised of the probability of success and hired a personal trainer.  As a result of his training, claimant’s condition improved, his pain declined, and he was capable of continued work.  (Claimant’s testimony)  

In 2005, claimant received treatment of back complaints.  Defendant directed claimant for medical attention at St. Luke’s.  Following treatment, claimant testified he was restricted from working on notably uneven surfaces.  (Claimant’s testimony)  

On January 10, 2011, claimant developed pain in his right shoulder when pull starting a chainsaw.  (Claimant’s testimony)  Claimant reported the injury and defendant referred claimant for care on January 12, 2011 with Jeffrey Westpheling, M.D.  Claimant disclosed a past history of shoulder evaluation and Dr. Coates’ surgical recommendation.  Following examination, Dr. Westpheling assessed a right shoulder strain and recommended use of over-the-counter pain relievers and utilization of a home exercise program.  He also imposed temporary work restrictions.  Claimant was directed to return in one week’s time for a right shoulder x-ray to evaluate for potential labrum injury.  (Exhibit 3, pages 3-5)

The following day, January 13, 2011, claimant returned to Dr. Westpheling with complaints of an onset of left shoulder pain following the prior day’s visit.  Claimant attributed the pain to potentially strength training or leaning upon the left arm and indicated he noticed the pain while walking to his car after evaluation.  Dr. Westpheling ordered physical therapy for the bilateral shoulders, imposed work restrictions, and prescribed Lortab.  (Ex. 3, pp. 6-7)  Claimant underwent left shoulder x-rays, also on January 13, 2011, read by the radiologist as demonstrating arthritic, hypertrophic spurring of the acromioclavicular (AC) joint, likely impacting the rotator cuff.  (Ex. 2, p. 1)

Claimant returned to Dr. Westpheling on January 19, 2011.  Claimant indicated he had performed his home exercise program instead of participating in physical therapy.  Dr. Westpheling reviewed claimant’s shoulder x-rays and opined bilateral shoulder x-rays revealed degenerative changes, particularly of the AC joints bilaterally.  He assessed bilateral shoulder impingement, imposed work restrictions, and recommended continuation of a home exercise program.  Dr. Westpheling raised the possibility of cortisone injections at a future date.  (Ex. 3, p. 8)  After follow up on January 25, 2011, Dr. Westpheling ordered bilateral shoulder physical therapy and continued work restrictions.  (Ex. 3, p. 9)      

Claimant underwent hearing testing on February 8, 2011.  During testing of speech frequencies, claimant’s left ear yielded mostly normal results, while the right ear demonstrated mild loss.  In testing of high pitched sounds, claimant’s left ear demonstrated moderate-severe loss and the right ear demonstrated moderate loss.  The provider noted claimant’s air conduction studies showed an average greater than 25 decibels in both ears at speech frequencies, which is considered a significant hearing loss.  (Ex. D, pp. 27-28)

On February 25, 2011, Dr. Westpheling ordered MRIs of the cervical spine and right shoulder.  (Ex. 3, p. 10)  Claimant underwent right shoulder MRI on February 28, 2011.  The radiologist opined the results revealed full thickness, retracted tears of the supraspinatus and anterior infraspinatus tendons; high-grade partial tear at the subscapularis insertion; and moderate to severe osteoarthritis of the AC joint with lesser osteoarthritis of the glenohumeral joint.  (Ex. 2, pp. 2-3)

Claimant returned to Dr. Westpheling on March 2, 2011.  Dr. Westpheling opined claimant’s right shoulder MRI revealed a full thickness 4.1 centimeter retracted tear of the supraspinatus and anterior infraspinatus tendons, and a high grade partial tear of the subscapularis insertion.  Dr. Westpheling opined given claimant’s history of right shoulder treatment, the MRI findings may have been present prior to the work injury.  He cautioned the ability to operatively repair the conditions may be limited due to the amount of retraction noted.  Dr. Westpheling referred claimant for orthopedic evaluation.  Pending evaluation, Dr. Westpheling recommended continuation of claimant’s work restrictions and home exercise program, but discontinuation of physical therapy.  (Ex. 3, p. 11)

On March 25, 2011, claimant presented to board-certified orthopedic surgeon, David Tearse, M.D., for right shoulder evaluation.  (Ex. 4, pp. 1, 21-22)  Claimant disclosed a history of bilateral shoulder treatment with Dr. Coates, but improvement in symptoms with use of a personal trainer.  Dr. Tearse reviewed claimant’s right shoulder MRI and assessed persistent right shoulder pain with stage III impingement, including full thickness retracted tears of the supraspinatus and infraspinatus, and a partial thickness tear of the subscapularis with underlying degenerative changes.  Dr. Tearse deemed claimant’s shoulder condition a difficult one, as he presented with a significant retracted tear, which may be difficult to surgically repair and the repair may not lead claimant to regain full strength.  Dr. Tearse recommended surgical repair, consisting of right shoulder arthroscopy with decompression and debridement, as well as a rotator cuff repair.  Pending surgery, Dr. Tearse prescribed Celebrex and imposed work restrictions.  (Ex. 4, pp. 1-3)

On April 12, 2011, claimant presented to Dr. Tearse, this time in evaluation of his left shoulder.  Following examination, Dr. Tearse assessed persistent left shoulder impingement and AC arthrosis with possible rotator cuff tear.  He prescribed Tramadol, imposed work restrictions, and recommended left shoulder MRI.  (Ex. 4, p. 4)     

Claimant underwent left shoulder MRI on April 15, 2011.  The radiologist opined the results revealed advanced degenerative changes of the AC joint; full thickness retracted rotator cuff tear; proximal intrascapular long biceps tendon partial tear with suspected involvement of the superior labrum; and a small joint effusion.  (Ex. 2, pp. 4‑5)

Following left shoulder MRI, claimant returned to Dr. Tearse on April 18, 2011.  Dr. Tearse reviewed claimant’s MRI and opined it revealed a full thickness, retracted, rotator cuff tear.  He recommended surgical intervention, consisting of arthroscopy with decompression and a rotator cuff repair.  Given claimant’s pending right shoulder surgery, Dr. Tearse recommended left shoulder surgery not be performed until claimant had sufficiently recovered from right shoulder surgery.  (Ex. 4, pp. 4-5)

Dr. Tearse performed right shoulder surgery on May 4, 2011.  The procedure consisted of right shoulder arthroscopy, subacromial decompression, biceps tenotomy, and mini open repair of a massive rotator cuff tear.  (Ex. 4, pp. 6-7)

Claimant returned to Dr. Tearse on May 12, 2011, post right shoulder surgery.  Dr. Tearse opined claimant should remain off work, use a sling, and begin physical therapy.  He also prescribed Tramadol.  (Ex. 4, p. 5)  During right shoulder recovery claimant continued to follow up with Dr. Tearse through July 8, 2011.  Treatment included physical therapy, medication use, and removal from work.  At appointments on August 11, 2011 and September 12, 2011, Dr. Tearse recommended continued physical therapy, utilization of a home exercise program, and imposition of work restrictions.  (Ex. 4, pp. 5, 8-9)  Following evaluation on October 24, 2011, Dr. Tearse recommended proceeding with left shoulder surgery.  (Ex. 4, p. 10)  

On November 28, 2011, claimant returned to Dr. Tearse.  Claimant reported an episode of sharp pain in his right shoulder while exiting a vehicle approximately three weeks prior.  Dr. Tearse ordered physical therapy and work restrictions for the right shoulder.  He placed claimant’s left surgery on hold pending improvement in right shoulder complaints.  (Ex. 4, pp. 10-11)

On December 27, 2011, Dr. Tearse ordered a right shoulder MR arthrogram and imposed work restrictions for the right shoulder.  (Ex. 4, p. 11)

Claimant underwent right shoulder MR arthrogram on January 4, 2012.  The radiologist opined the results revealed interval postsurgical changes; large full thickness tear of the supraspinatus tendon repair, with retraction to the level of the glenoid; infraspinatus and subscapularis tendinopathy; mild to moderate atrophy of the supraspinatus muscle belly; advanced osteoarthritis of the AC joint; and mild osteoarthritis of the glenohumeral joint.  (Ex. 2, pp. 6-7) 

Claimant returned to Dr. Tearse on January 9, 2012.  Dr. Tearse reviewed claimant’s right shoulder MR arthrogram and opined it revealed a large full thickness retracted tear of the supraspinatus tendon, and degenerative changes at the AC joint and glenohumeral joint.  Dr. Tearse indicated he would consider surgical options, but noted claimant’s condition was complicated by significant underlying degenerative changes in the glenohumeral joint, which he opined led to a good chance of continued pain, even with a successful repair of the rotator cuff.  He referred claimant for evaluation with James Nepola, M.D., who he described as an expert in difficult rotator cuff conditions.  Dr. Tearse related claimant’s right shoulder condition to the work injury of January 10, 2011.  (Ex. 4, p. 12)  

Claimant presented to orthopedic surgeon Dr. Nepola on February 7, 2012 for evaluation of his right shoulder.  (Ex. 5, pp. 5, 35-70)  Dr. Nepola opined claimant’s radiographs, images from arthroscopy, and MR arthrogram results revealed arthritic changes of the humeral head and a rotator cuff tear.  He issued diagnoses of right shoulder arthritis and a right rotator cuff tear.  Dr. Nepola opined claimant was not a good candidate for surgical repair of the rotator cuff by a latissimus tendon transfer.  Dr. Nepola reasoned the arthritic changes of the shoulder joint would result in greater pain if the joint was tighter.  Accordingly, Dr. Nepola recommended conservative care of physical therapy designed to strengthen the rotator cuff and imposed work restrictions.  (Ex. 5, pp. 5-6)

Dr. Nepola noted if claimant failed to improve with conservative measures, he may consider performing a Copeland hemi-resurfacing.  This procedure would not repair the rotator cuff, but provides most patients with significant pain relief.  Dr. Nepola also indicated the possibility existed for a reverse total shoulder surgery at some point in the future, should the hemi-resurfacing prove insufficient.  He opined claimant was not a candidate for a reverse total shoulder procedure at this time as claimant was too young and the shoulder would likely not last, after which, the procedure cannot be redone.  (Ex. 5, pp. 5-6)
Claimant returned to Dr. Nepola on March 6, 2012 and reported improvement in his right shoulder with conservative treatment, until the prior week.  On one day the prior week, claimant was working when he felt a pop and developed increased pain and decreased range of motion in his shoulder.  (Ex. 5, p. 8)  Dr. Nepola imposed work restrictions and performed a corticosteroid injection of the right shoulder.  (Ex. 5, pp. 10‑13)
On March 27, 2012, claimant returned to Dr. Nepola in follow up of his right shoulder complaints.  Claimant reported greater than 90 percent improvement in right shoulder pain following subacromial corticosteroid injection.  (Ex. 5, p. 14)  Dr. Nepola opined the popping sound claimant had heard in his right shoulder did not indicate additional damage.  He recommended continued physical therapy and work restrictions, advising claimant to keep his elbows close to his sides while lifting.  Dr. Nepola stated if claimant’s right shoulder remained not painful and did not prevent him from working, he would not proceed with surgery.  He continued to caution a hemiarthroplasty may prove necessary in the future.  (Ex. 5, pp. 15-16)   

On May 4, 2012, claimant presented to Dr. Tearse in follow up of left shoulder complaints.  Dr. Tearse assessed left shoulder impingement with a rotator cuff tear and AC arthrosis.  He recommended surgical intervention consisting of left shoulder arthroscopic subacromial decompression and distal clavicle excision with rotator cuff repair.  (Ex. 4, p. 13)   

Claimant returned to Dr. Nepola on May 8, 2012 in follow up of right shoulder complaints.  Claimant reported his right shoulder did not hurt so long as he stayed within certain limits of motion with the right arm.  (Ex. 5, p. 17)  Dr. Nepola placed claimant at maximum medical improvement (MMI) as of that date, May 8, 2012.  He imposed permanent work restrictions with respect to the right shoulder, consisting of no repetitive reaching away from the body or above shoulder height with the right arm.  Dr. Nepola again cautioned claimant may require additional medical care in the future, including physical therapy, injections, or surgery.  Pending the need for such care, Dr. Nepola advised claimant to procure pain medications through his personal physician.  (Ex. 5, pp. 17, 20-21) 

The undersigned notes both parties indicate by post-hearing brief that following the May 8, 2012 appointment, Dr. Nepola opined claimant sustained a four percent whole person impairment as a result of his right shoulder condition.  Defendant introduced a written document demonstrating how it computed the extent of claimant’s industrial disability and by the document, states Dr. Nepola assigned a four percent whole person impairment rating.  However, the evidentiary record lacks any such opinion authored by Dr. Nepola.  Therefore, the undersigned will accept counsels’ statements reflecting a four percent whole person impairment rating by Dr. Nepola as a stipulation.

Defendant paid 80 weeks of permanent partial disability benefits as a result of the right shoulder condition, reflecting a 16 percent industrial disability.  (Ex. A, p. 2)

In December 2011, claimant returned to work light duty.  Claimant testified he worked in the parts room, assisting with inventory.  His duties required rearranging of the location of parts throughout the parts room.  While performing his duties, claimant was required to work at floor level.  This led him to kneel on his left knee and to rise to standing, he would push off his right knee with his right hand.  Claimant testified he developed pain in his right knee, shin, and leg.  (Claimant’s testimony)  Claimant reported his right knee complaints to defendant and a first report of injury was completed on May 23, 2012.  (Ex. 1, p. 1)
On May 24, 2012, claimant presented to Dr. Westpheling for right knee evaluation.  Claimant underwent right knee x-rays, which the radiologist opined revealed tricompartmental osteoarthritis with joint narrowing, greatest at the medial compartment.  (Ex. 2, p. 8)  Following examination, Dr. Westpheling assessed right knee bursitis.  He related claimant’s symptoms to his work duties.  Dr. Westpheling provided claimant a hinged knee support to wear with work and activities.  He encouraged claimant to avoid squatting on the right knee and to use caution on stairs.  Dr. Westpheling recommended treatment consisting of topical analgesics and ice.  (Ex. 3, pp. 12-13)

Claimant returned to Dr. Westpheling on June 6, 2012 and reported improvement in his right knee with use of the brace and when he was off his feet.  Dr. Westpheling noted claimant reported suffering with occasional twinges of pain over the anterior medial joint line with twisting activities.  On examination, Dr. Westpheling noted full range of motion of the right knee; no swelling, erythema, or ecchymosis; no significant tenderness; and a weakly positive McMurray test when testing the medial meniscus.  Following examination, Dr. Westpheling assessed right knee bursitis with possible mild injury to the right medial meniscus.  As claimant had shown improvement, Dr. Westpheling opined no additional imaging or specific care was currently required.  Dr. Westpheling noted claimant would be off work for a time following left shoulder surgery and claimant expressed belief his right knee would improve during that time.  Accordingly, Dr. Westpheling released claimant to return as needed and without restrictions for the right knee.  (Ex. 3, p. 18)   

On June 20, 2012, Dr. Tearse performed left shoulder surgery, consisting of arthroscopy with subacromial decompression, distal clavicle excision, and mini open rotator cuff repair.  (Ex. 4, pp. 14-15)  Following surgery, claimant continued to follow up with Dr. Tearse and was treated with physical therapy, medications, home exercise program, use of a sling, and work restrictions.  (Ex. 4, pp. 13-19)

On July 10, 2012, claimant returned to Dr. Nepola with complaints of increased right shoulder pain.  Dr. Nepola performed a repeat subacromial corticosteroid injection.  He continued claimant’s permanent restrictions for the right shoulder.  (Ex. 5, pp. 22, 24-26)

Dr. Nepola performed a repeat subacromial corticosteroid injection of claimant’s right shoulder on November 8, 2012.  (Ex. 5, p. 30)

Throughout the course of claimant’s employment with defendant, claimant participated in a hearing monitoring program and underwent periodic audiometric testing.  (Ex. D)  During the course of his work for defendant, claimant testified he was exposed to noise from chainsaws, woodchippers, and heavy equipment.  He testified he used hearing protection at work, including hardhats with earmuffs attached and then a combination of earplugs and earmuffs.  Claimant testified he developed a “ringing” in his ears approximately 10 to 12 years prior to evidentiary hearing.  The ringing noise began intermittently, but over time became constant.  He described the ringing noise as pulsating and similar to a room full of locusts.  At the advice of his attorney, claimant agreed to evaluation by a hearing specialist.  (Claimant’s testimony) 

Claimant retained the services of Richard Tyler, Ph.D., an audiologist and consultant in hearing loss, tinnitus, hyperacusis and acoustics.  (Ex. 7, pp. 1, 74)  Dr. Tyler reviewed claimant’s past hearing evaluations and defendant’s hearing conservation program outline.  He also engaged in two telephone interviews with claimant on November 11 and November 12, 2012.  Upon completion of his evaluation, Dr. Tyler issued a report of his findings and opinions dated November 17, 2012.  (Ex. 7, p. 1)

Dr. Tyler noted claimant’s first audiogram while in the employ of defendant, at age 37, showed zero percent hearing loss and noted no mention of ringing of the ears.  Claimant indicated during his work, he was required to raise his voice in order to communicate with co-workers.  Dr. Tyler opined this suggested the noise to which claimant was exposed was intense enough to produce noise-induced hearing loss and tinnitus.  Dr. Tyler also noted claimant was exposed to impulsive noise during the course of his work.  (Ex. 7, pp. 1-2)

While claimant used earplugs at work, Dr. Tyler noted claimant was not observed to ensure he was inserting the plugs properly.  Additionally, claimant reported needing to remove his earplugs three or four times per day for a duration of five to ten minutes each time.  Dr. Tyler opined such removal decreased the effectiveness of use of earplugs.  Claimant also reported use of earmuffs.  However, the earmuffs attached to his helmet would pop off his ears.  In addition to the earmuffs, claimant also wore safety eye goggles; Dr. Tyler indicated these safety goggles “got in the way” of claimant’s hearing protection.  Claimant reported working as long as 12 hours per day and as many as 60 hours per week.  Dr. Tyler indicated the guidelines designed to limit noise exposure are based upon 40 hour work weeks.  Dr. Tyler opined it probable these guidelines are grossly inadequate for exposures lasting greater than 40 hours per week.  (Ex. 7, p. 2)  Dr. Tyler also opined exposure to certain chemicals has the potential to exacerbate noise exposure’s potential to produce hearing loss and tinnitus.  He noted during claimant’s work, he was exposed to a variety of chemicals, including exhaust fumes and fuel.  (Ex. 7, p. 3)

In review of claimant’s hearing evaluations, Dr. Tyler noted zero percent hearing loss in the 1988 and 1989 evaluations.  Dr. Tyler opined over the years, claimant’s hearing worsened at the 4000 and 6000 Hz levels, a finding he indicated was expected with noise induced hearing loss.  He opined claimant now demonstrated a mild high frequency loss and a noise induced notch was evident in both ears.  (Ex. 7, pp. 3-4)

Dr. Tyler opined claimant’s May 31, 2011 audiogram revealed a bilateral hearing loss of 0.23 percent, a number which excluded any previous hearing loss and was reduced by an average age-related hearing loss.  Dr. Tyler explained the calculation of percentage hearing loss is an approximation of the speech communication handicap which is expected.  He noted claimant’s hearing loss existed mostly at higher frequencies and the percentage method “grossly” underestimated claimant’s hearing difficulties and did not adequately quantify claimant’s hearing impairment.  (Ex. 7, p. 4)  

He explained high frequency hearing loss prevents claimant from hearing high frequency speech sounds such as “s,” “z,” “ch,” and “sh.”  He further noted women and children speak at a higher pitch than do men.  This impediment can therefore render communication difficult, especially in noisy environments.  Additionally, Dr. Tyler noted such a limitation can result in difficulty localizing the direction of the source of a sound.  (Ex. 7, pp. 4-5)

Dr. Tyler opined claimant’s high frequency hearing loss was so severe that claimant may benefit from a short-electrode cochlear implant.  He cautioned, however, that such equipment remains investigational in the United States.  Dr. Tyler indicated claimant may benefit from bilateral hearing aids.  Dr. Tyler opined the more appropriate approach for measuring claimant’s percentage binaural hearing loss would involve measurement at multiple frequencies.  By this method, he computed claimant’s binaural hearing loss as 14 percent.  (Ex. 7, pp. 4-5, 10)  

In addition to hearing loss, Dr. Tyler also diagnosed claimant with moderate tinnitus.  He opined tinnitus causes impairment to concentration, emotional well-being, hearing, and sleep patterns.  (Ex. 7, pp. 6-7)  In Dr. Tyler’s opinion, the maximum whole person impairment which can result from tinnitus is 60 percent.  Using this scale, Dr. Tyler opined claimant presented with a tinnitus impairment of 6 percent whole person.  (Ex. 7, pp. 8, 10)

Dr. Tyler indicated he did not anticipate improvement in claimant’s condition.  Due to claimant’s impaired ability to hear, Dr. Tyler recommended permanent restrictions.  Specifically, Dr. Tyler advised no work around loud noises, no work around unpredictable noise levels, no work in dangerous situations which require concentration, no work in stressful situations, and no work in situations requiring auditory localization.  (Ex. 7, pp. 10-11) 

On the issue of causation between claimant’s work for defendant and his hearing loss and tinnitus, Dr. Tyler opined the conditions were probably experienced as a result of claimant’s work.  Dr. Tyler opined there was no evidence claimant began employment with a percentage hearing loss or tinnitus.  According to Dr. Tyler, subsequent audiograms performed during employment with defendant were consistent with noise induced hearing loss.  Dr. Tyler highlighted claimant’s work exposure to greater than 40 hour work weeks, impulsive noise, and chemicals.  Dr. Tyler opined claimant lacked any health problems which would likely contribute to hearing loss or tinnitus.  He also found claimant’s family history failed to demonstrate hereditary factors likely to produce claimant’s hearing loss.  In summary, Dr. Tyler opined it very unlikely claimant’s hearing loss and tinnitus were due to aging, other employment, recreational noise, or heredity.  (Ex. 7, pp. 4, 10, 11)  

Claimant returned to Dr. Westpheling on January 4, 2013 for repeat evaluation of his right knee.  Dr. Westpheling noted a history of evaluation seven months prior, at which time he had diagnosed right knee bursitis, but claimant’s symptomatology was suspicious for a medial meniscus tear.  Claimant reported continued pain over the medial aspect of the right knee, particularly at night.  On examination, Dr. Westpheling noted tenderness over the anterior medial joint line and positive McMurray testing with testing of the medial meniscus.  Dr. Westpheling assessed right knee arthralgia suspicious for medial meniscal tear and ordered a right knee MRI.  He also prescribed Tramadol and imposed work restrictions for the right knee, specifically no squatting or kneeling.  (Ex. 3, pp. 21-22) 

Claimant underwent right knee MRI on January 7, 2013.  The radiologist opined the results revealed osteoarthritis of the medial knee joint compartment; substantial cartilage thinning and irregularity; and degenerative partial medial extrusion of the medial meniscus.  (Ex. 2, pp. 9-10)

On January 11, 2013, claimant returned to Dr. Westpheling.  Dr. Westpheling opined claimant’s right knee MRI revealed degenerative changes involving the medial compartment, including significant thinning of the articular cartilage, as well as degenerative changes involving the medial meniscus, with extrusion.  (Ex. 3, p. 25)  Dr. Westpheling opined the MRI findings explained claimant’s ongoing right knee complaints and further opined: 

I would consider these findings degenerative in nature and no acute injuries are identified including an acute meniscal tear.
(Ex. 3, p. 25)   

Dr. Westpheling assessed degenerative joint disease of the right knee.  He reiterated his opinions on causation, stating claimant’s current right knee condition was not caused by nor contributed to by claimant’s work activities.  Accordingly, Dr. Westpheling imposed no restrictions and advised claimant to follow up with his personal physician.  (Ex. 3, pp. 25-26) 

After Dr. Westpheling released him from care, claimant testified he requested Dr. Tearse’s referral for a knee specialist.  Dr. Tearse recommended claimant seek the services of Jeffrey Nassif, M.D.  (Claimant’s testimony)  On January 24, 2013, claimant presented to board certified orthopedic surgeon, Dr. Nassif, with complaints of right knee pain.  (Ex. 9, pp. 7, 31)  Claimant reported a history of pain for approximately six to seven years, which began after claimant jammed his knee and which had progressively worsened to a severe level.  Dr. Nassif opined claimant’s x-rays revealed moderately severe arthritis and claimant’s MRI results were consistent with this finding.  He assessed osteoarthritis of the right knee.  Dr. Nassif opined claimant was not a candidate for arthroscopy, but performed a cortisone injection.  (Ex. 9, p. 7)  

On March 6, 2013, claimant returned to Dr. Nepola’s office and was evaluated by Rhonda Dunn, ARNP.  Claimant complained of right shoulder pain.  Ms. Dunn noted a diagnosis of arthritis of the right glenohumeral joint and performed a repeat subacromial corticosteroid injection.  Ms. Dunn also modified claimant’s prescription medications.  (Ex. 5, pp. 31, 33-34) 

Claimant returned to Dr. Tearse on March 25, 2013.  Claimant reported very little, if any, left shoulder pain.  On examination, Dr. Tearse noted mild crepitus with active motion, elevation to 155 degrees, abduction to 150 degrees, external rotation of 90 degrees, internal rotation of 40 degrees, and mild weakness with abduction and external rotation.  Dr. Tearse opined claimant achieved MMI for the left shoulder on March 25, 2013.  He recommended claimant perform a home exercise program and imposed permanent restrictions of a maximum lift of 2 pounds above shoulder level on a rare basis, 10-pound maximum lift at waist level, only rare above shoulder reaching, and extended reaching as tolerated.  Dr. Tearse recommended claimant work primarily at waist level.  He opined claimant sustained an 11 percent left upper extremity or 7 percent whole person impairment as a result of the left shoulder condition.  Dr. Tearse also recommended continuation of claimant’s existing permanent restrictions for the right shoulder.  (Ex. 4, p. 20; Ex. B, pp. 9-10)

Defendant made payment of 95 weeks of permanent disability benefits relative to claimant’s left shoulder, representing a 19 percent industrial disability.  (Ex. A, p. 4)

Claimant received a series of three right knee Synvisc injections from Dr. Nassif’s office, on March 28, April 4, and April 9, 2013.  (Ex. 9, pp. 8-10)

On April 3, 2013, claimant presented to board certified physiatrist, Farid Manshadi, M.D., for claimant’s independent medical evaluation (IME).  (Ex. 6, p. 20)  Following medical records review, interview, and examination, Dr. Manshadi issued opinions regarding claimant’s bilateral shoulder and right knee conditions.  With respect to the right shoulder, Dr. Manshadi opined claimant sustained a permanent impairment of 13 percent right upper extremity.  Dr. Manshadi opined claimant may require right shoulder surgery in the future, including the possibility of a right shoulder total joint replacement.  He recommended permanent work restrictions of no lifting more than 5 to 10 pounds with the right upper extremity and avoidance of any activities which required reaching, shoulder height or overhead activities.  With respect to claimant’s left shoulder, Dr. Manshadi opined claimant sustained a permanent impairment of 10 percent left upper extremity.  Dr. Manshadi opined no further treatment was required for the left shoulder.  He recommended permanent restrictions of no lifting more than 20 to 30 pounds with the left upper extremity and avoidance of any activity which required repetitious reaching, shoulder height or overhead activities.  Given the state of claimant’s bilateral shoulders, Dr. Manshadi also recommended avoidance of ladder climbing.  (Ex. 6, pp. 15-16)  

With regard to claimant’s right knee, Dr. Manshadi opined claimant presented with clinical evidence of chondromalacia patella, as well as a probable meniscal injury.  Dr. Manshadi opined claimant’s right knee MRI revealed old and chronic degenerative changes; however, he believed claimant aggravated the right knee joint while working light duty.  He specifically related claimant’s existing right knee complaints to an aggravation of the right knee condition while working in the parts department where he would lean, squat, kneel, and push off on the right knee to rise from kneeling on the left knee.  Dr. Manshadi also noted claimant’s history of climbing into and out of heavy equipment at work, with the equipment located approximately three to four feet off the ground.  (Ex. 6, pp. 16-17)

Dr. Manshadi opined claimant had achieved MMI relative to his right knee condition and assigned an MMI date which corresponded with claimant’s last Synvisc injection performed by Dr. Nassif.  He opined claimant sustained a permanent impairment of five percent right lower extremity and recommended permanent restrictions of allowance of alternation between sitting and standing as needed and avoidance of any activity which required sustained standing or walking.  Dr. Manshadi expressed belief claimant would eventually require right knee surgery and he could not rule out the possibility of a knee joint replacement.  (Ex. 6, pp. 16-17)   

On June 6, 2013, claimant returned to Dr. Nassif’s office and was seen by Patti Recker, PA-C.  Claimant reported no relief of his knee complaints following the series of Synvisc injections.  He reported using the tramadol prescribed for his currently asymptomatic shoulders to treat his knee pain.  Ms. Recker performed a cortisone injection of the knee and indicated if claimant’s tramadol prescription ran out, she would prescribe tramadol for claimant’s knee complaints.  (Ex. 9, p. 11)   

In July 2013, defendant referred claimant to vocational rehabilitation consultant, Lana Sellner.  (Ex. C, pp. 11-12)  Ms. Sellner possesses a master’s degree and certification in rehabilitation counseling.  (Ex. C, pp. 22-23)  Ms. Sellner was retained to perform a vocational rehabilitation evaluation, specifically to engage in vocational rehabilitation discussion and issue recommendations.  Ms. Sellner evaluated claimant on August 5, 2013 and issued a report of her opinions dated September 4, 2013.  (Ex. C, p. 13)  Ms. Sellner reviewed claimant’s medical, educational, and work histories.  With regard to claimant’s work history, Ms. Sellner identified prior work as an operating engineer, motor grader operator, and highway maintenance worker.  She noted prior to claimant’s work injuries, claimant was capable of performing work up to the medium physical demand level, which required exertion of 20 to 50 pounds of force occasionally or 10 to 25 pounds of force frequently.  (Ex. C, pp. 17-18)  

Given claimant’s restrictions for his prior back injury, as well as the bilateral shoulder restrictions imposed by Drs. Nepola and Tearse, Ms. Sellner opined claimant capable of performing light physical demand category work.  She opined claimant capable of employment, including but not limited to security work, work-service clerk, heavy equipment service manager, selected driving positions, selected cashier positions, and customer service.  Claimant expressed willingness to explore potential options for returning to work.  However, Ms. Sellner indicated claimant’s employability options were difficult to assess at the current stage of claimant’s knee condition.  Pending surgery which had been recommended, Ms. Sellner agreed to develop a résumé for claimant.  She advised claimant’s file would be placed on hold until claimant had neared right knee recovery.  At that point, she expressed willingness to provide job seeking and vocational services.  (Ex. C, pp. 18-19)       

Claimant applied for Social Security disability benefits in approximately June 2013.  (Claimant’s testimony)  On August 9, 2013, claimant submitted a letter of resignation to defendant.  By his letter, claimant designated September 20, 2013 as his official final day of employment, the date on which his FMLA leave concluded.  (Ex. A, p. 8)  

Claimant returned to Dr. Nassif on August 22, 2013 for a physical prior to undergoing right total knee arthroplasty.  Dr. Nassif outlined postoperative restrictions against running, jumping, or carrying greater than 50 pounds for the remainder of claimant’s life.  (Ex. 9, p. 15)  An x-ray of the right knee taken that date revealed severe bone on bone arthritis with loss of joint space and osteophyte formation.  (Ex. 9, p. 17)

Dr. Nassif performed right total knee arthroplasty on September 11, 2013.  (Ex. 9, pp. 23-24)  Following surgery, claimant began a course of physical therapy on September 13, 2013.  At claimant’s initial physical therapy appointment, claimant reported his original right knee injury occurred in 2004 after he dropped eight feet, landing upon a straight right leg.  (Ex. 9, p. 25)  Claimant returned to Dr. Nassif’s office on October 14, 2013 and was examined by Ms. Recker.  X-rays of that date revealed satisfactory alignment of the prosthesis without evidence of loosening or wear.  Ms. Recker advised claimant to continue physical therapy.  (Ex. 9, pp. 27, 29) 

Ms. Sellner authored a letter to claimant’s counsel dated December 20, 2013.  By her letter, Ms. Sellner inquired if claimant had been released to drive and if restrictions had been imposed.  She indicated a desire to commence active vocational services once claimant had been released to drive.  Ms. Sellner also requested a copy of claimant’s work restrictions, to allow for her review and consideration from a vocational standpoint.  (Ex. C, p. 20)  Ms. Sellner’s notes indicate she made multiple attempts to follow up with claimant’s attorney prior to drafting her letter of December 20, 2013.  (Ex. C, p. 21)  

On January 7, 2014, Ms. Sellner authored a letter to claimant’s counsel.  She again inquired into the status of the healing process of claimant’s knee.  She also attached a draft résumé /work history timeline for claimant’s review and input of additional information.  (Ex. C, p. 21(a))  Her records indicate receipt of a faxed letter response which indicated claimant had not yet been released to work.  (Ex. C, p. 21(c))

Claimant retained vocational specialist Barbara Laughlin to perform an employability assessment.  Ms. Laughlin issued a report of her opinions dated January 21, 2014.  Ms. Laughlin identified claimant’s various employment positions with defendant since his hire in 1989.  She indicated the position of heavy equipment operator qualified as skilled work within the medium physical demand category.  She identified the position of highway maintenance worker as a semi-skilled, medium physical demand job.  Finally, Ms. Laughlin identified the position of grader operator as a skilled, medium physical demand position.  (Ex. 8, pp. 4-5)  

In completing her assessment, Ms. Laughlin noted claimant claimed work injuries to his bilateral shoulders, right knee, and hearing loss and tinnitus.  As a result of these conditions, she noted Drs. Manshadi, Tyler, Tearse, and Nepola had recommended work restrictions.  Ms. Laughlin also noted Dr. Brady had previously imposed work restrictions related to claimant’s back condition.  (Ex. 8, pp. 1-4) 

Ms. Laughlin performed a computerized transferable skills analysis.  The goal of the analysis was to evaluate occupational loss which resulted from claimant’s medically imposed restrictions.  (Ex. 8, p. 5)  Utilizing the restrictions recommended by Drs. Manshadi and Tyler, Ms. Laughlin concluded claimant sustained a 100 percent loss of directly, closely, and generally transferrable occupations, and a 99.9 percent loss of unskilled occupations.  Utilizing the restrictions recommended by Drs. Tyler, Tearse, and Nepola, Ms. Laughlin concluded claimant sustained a 100 percent loss of directly, closely, and generally transferrable occupations, and a 98.9 percent loss of unskilled occupations.  (Ex. 8, p. 7)  Utilizing the restrictions imposed by Drs. Nepola and Tearse, Ms. Laughlin opined claimant sustained a 100 percent loss of directly and closely transferable occupations, 95.1 percent of generally transferable occupations, and 98.6 percent of unskilled occupations.  (Ex. 8, p. 8)

Ms. Laughlin expressed disagreement with Ms. Sellner’s opinions.  (Ex. 8, pp. 10-14)  She noted she performed labor market research and identified only four unskilled titles of work remained available to claimant.  (Ex. 8, pp. 14-15)  Following completion of her analysis, Ms. Laughlin opined there were no jobs in any quantity, quality, or dependability which remained available in claimant’s labor market.  (Ex. 8, p. 16)     

In February 2014, claimant received approval of his application for Social Security disability benefits.  (Claimant’s testimony)

Ms. Sellner authored follow up correspondence to claimant’s counsel dated February 24, 2014.  Ms. Sellner indicated her vocational services remained available to claimant.  She also requested a copy of claimant’s restrictions to aid her in a job search.  (Ex. C, p. 21(b))

Claimant testified following surgery, his left shoulder improved more than his right shoulder.  Despite improvement, claimant testified he continues to suffer with bilateral shoulder difficulties.  At home, he is no longer able to vacuum or clean carpets, cannot perform any overhead activity, and is not able to complete yard work or heavy snow removal.  Claimant also testified he is unable to perform pushing and pulling movements.  Although claimant continues to have difficulties with his right shoulder, claimant testified he has no plans to pursue additional right shoulder surgery until the condition reaches a point at which he can no longer tolerate the pain.  (Claimant’s testimony)

With regard to his hearing impediments, claimant testified he has been informed there are no treatments available.  He testified the conditions lead to some difficulty locating the source of a sound and he attempts to avoid noisy situations.  Claimant also testified he has difficulty following conversations and this difficulty has impacted his personal relationships.  He explained he loses track of what individuals are saying and he will repeat what he believes others have said.  Additionally, at times, he pretends he is listening rather than continuing to attempt to follow a conversation.  (Claimant’s testimony)

Claimant testified at the time of hearing, he had not yet been released from care for his right knee.  Claimant testified he anticipated permanent restrictions would be imposed, including a 50 pound lifting limit and no running or jumping.  He expressed difficulty standing for longer than 5 minutes, he limits walking, and is unable to kneel, jog, or run.  Additionally, claimant testified he is limited in the amount of weight he can carry and for how long.  Claimant testified he remains willing to meet with Ms. Sellner to explore vocational options, but had not done so as he remained in healing status following his right knee surgery.  (Claimant’s testimony)  Claimant incurred medical expenses and medical mileage from January 24, 2013 through February 10, 2014 in treatment of his right knee complaints.  (Ex. 10; Ex. 11)

Claimant testified the combined limitations resulting from his bilateral shoulder, knee, and hearing conditions have impacted his activities of daily living and recreational activities.  Prior to the shoulder injuries, claimant used hand tools to carve wood.  He is now unable to complete carvings with hand tools and attempts to use power tools.  The power tool method requires manipulation with claimant’s arms and involves exposure to vibration and noise.  Although he continues to engage in this hobby, he limits himself to mainly smaller carvings and spends only 25 percent as much time on these activities as he had prior to the alleged work injuries.  He also limits himself in duration of fishing trips and no longer plays full rounds of golf.  Claimant no longer engages in gardening because he is unable to rise from the ground once he is seated.  Claimant relayed significant trouble walking as a result of the right knee condition; difficulty dressing in a shirt due to his shoulder condition; difficulty dressing in pants due to his right knee limitations; an inability to reach his back while showering due to shoulder complaints; and the need to hold a brush in his left arm only.  Claimant summarized he has made adjustments to the manner in which he performs nearly all his activities.  (Claimant’s testimony)

Steve Estenson, risk manager for defendant, testified at evidentiary hearing.  Mr. Estenson acknowledged claimant was exposed to noise during the course of his work, but identified defendant’s hearing loss prevention program which included annual hearing evaluation and use of hearing protection.  He acknowledged claimant would have been required to remove hearing protection from time to time to communicate with co-workers.  Mr. Estenson testified claimant’s bilateral shoulder restrictions prevented claimant from returning to his pre-injury position, as claimant was unable to climb into and out of equipment.  Mr. Estenson reiterated the availability of Ms. Sellner to provide claimant vocational assistance.  (Mr. Estenson’s testimony)  

Mr. Estenson’s testimony was clear and consistent with the evidentiary record.  His demeanor gave the undersigned no reason to doubt his veracity.  Mr. Estenson is found credible.

CONCLUSIONS OF LAW

In File No. 5038292 (Date of Injury:  January 10, 2011 Bilateral Shoulders):
The sole issue for determination is the extent of claimant’s industrial disability, including whether claimant is permanently and totally disabled.  

The party who would suffer loss if an issue were not established has the burden of proving that issue by a preponderance of the evidence.  Iowa Rule of Appellate Procedure 6.14(6).

Under the Iowa Workers’ Compensation Act, permanent partial disability is compensated either for a loss or loss of use of a scheduled member under Iowa Code section 85.34(2)(a)-(t) or for loss of earning capacity under section 85.34(2)(u).  The parties have stipulated claimant’s disability shall be evaluated industrially. 

Since claimant has an impairment to the body as a whole, an industrial disability has been sustained.  Industrial disability was defined in Diederich v. Tri-City R. Co., 219 Iowa 587, 258 N.W. 899 (1935) as follows:  "It is therefore plain that the legislature intended the term 'disability' to mean 'industrial disability' or loss of earning capacity and not a mere 'functional disability' to be computed in the terms of percentages of the total physical and mental ability of a normal man."

Functional impairment is an element to be considered in determining industrial disability which is the reduction of earning capacity, but consideration must also be given to the injured employee's age, education, qualifications, experience, motivation, loss of earnings, severity and situs of the injury, work restrictions, inability to engage in employment for which the employee is fitted and the employer's offer of work or failure to so offer.  McSpadden v. Big Ben Coal Co., 288 N.W.2d 181 (Iowa 1980); Olson v. Goodyear Service Stores, 255 Iowa 1112, 125 N.W.2d 251 (1963); Barton v. Nevada Poultry Co., 253 Iowa 285, 110 N.W.2d 660 (1961).

Compensation for permanent partial disability shall begin at the termination of the healing period.  Compensation shall be paid in relation to 500 weeks as the disability bears to the body as a whole.  Section 85.34.

Claimant was 61 years of age on the date of evidentiary hearing.  His education consists of graduation from high school and completion of truck driving school, after which he obtained his CDL license.  He has no other formal postsecondary or vocational education or training.  Claimant’s work history consists nearly entirely of manual labor, with the exception of 3 ½ years driving a truck.  His most physical employment came as a farm laborer directly after high school.  Claimant also was self‑employed for a period of approximately 5 years performing mowing and pool maintenance.  

The majority of claimant’s work history, however, has been in the employ of defendant.  For the 24 years prior to his resignation, claimant worked for defendant performing mowing tasks, heavy equipment operation, and most recently, road grader operation.  Work as a road grader operator required claimant to maintain a set route of roads, including the need to cut trees when necessary.  Claimant estimated he spent approximately equal portions of his work hours inside versus outside of his road grader.

As a result of claimant’s work duties, claimant sustained admitted bilateral shoulder injuries with a stipulated date of injury of January 10, 2011.  As a result of the stipulated work injury, claimant was diagnosed with full thickness retracted tears of the supraspinatus and anterior infraspinatus tendons, as well as a high grade partial tear at the subscapularis insertion in the right shoulder.  Claimant underwent right shoulder arthroscopy, subacromial decompression, biceps tenotomy, and mini open repair of the massive rotator cuff tear with Dr. Tearse on May 4, 2011.  

Subsequently, on January 4, 2012, claimant underwent an MR arthrogram which revealed a large full thickness tear of the supraspinatus tendon repair, with retraction.  Dr. Tearse referred claimant to shoulder specialist, Dr. Nepola, who opined claimant was currently non-surgical, but may require a hemi-resurfacing and/or reverse total shoulder replacement at a future date.  Dr. Nepola placed claimant at MMI for his right shoulder condition on May 8, 2012 and opined claimant sustained a four percent whole person impairment.  Dr. Nepola imposed the permanent work restriction of no repetitive reaching away from the body or above shoulder height with the right arm.  Dr. Nepola has continued to provide periodic corticosteroid injections of claimant’s right shoulder.
With respect to the left shoulder, claimant sustained a full thickness, retracted rotator cuff tear.  Claimant underwent arthroscopy with subacromial decompression, distal clavicle excision, and mini open rotator cuff repair by Dr. Tearse on June 20, 2012.  Dr. Tearse placed claimant at MMI effective March 25, 2013 and opined claimant sustained a seven percent whole person impairment to his left shoulder.  Dr. Tearse imposed permanent work restrictions on the left arm, including a maximum lift of two pounds above shoulder height, rarely; ten-pound maximum lift at waist level; only rare above shoulder reaching; and extended reaching as tolerated.  In summary, Dr. Tearse recommended claimant work primarily at waist level.    

The only other physician to offer an opinion regarding the extent of claimant’s permanent impairment and need for work restrictions is IME physician, Dr. Manshadi.  With regard to claimant’s right shoulder, Dr. Manshadi noted claimant may require a total joint replacement at some future date, but opined claimant had currently sustained a permanent impairment of 13 percent right upper extremity, the equivalent of 8 percent whole person.  He recommended permanent restrictions of no lifting greater than 5 to 10 pounds with the right upper extremity and avoidance of any activities which require reaching, shoulder height, or overhead actions.  With respect to the claimant’s left shoulder, Dr. Manshadi opined claimant sustained a permanent impairment of 10 percent left upper extremity, the equivalent of 6 percent whole person.  He recommended permanent restrictions of no lifting greater than 20 to 30 pounds with the left upper extremity and avoidance of activities which require repetitious reaching, shoulder height, or overhead actions.  Given the state of claimant’s bilateral shoulders, Dr. Manshadi also advised against ladder climbing. 

Claimant testified his left shoulder improved to a higher functioning level than did his right shoulder after surgical treatment.  Despite improvement, claimant continued to testify to an impact on many daily activities as a result of his bilateral shoulder conditions.  Claimant testified he has adjusted the manner in which he completes daily activities as a result of these ongoing limitations.  

In review of the medical opinions in evidence, only nominal difference is seen in the impairment ratings offered by claimant’s treating and IME physicians.  With regard to the right shoulder, treating surgeon Dr. Nepola opined a permanent impairment of 4 percent whole person and IME physician Dr. Manshadi’s opinion equates to a rating of 8 percent whole person.  With regard to the left shoulder, treating surgeon Dr. Tearse opined a permanent impairment of 7 percent whole person and Dr. Manshadi’s opinion equates to a rating of 6 percent whole person.  By the combined values chart, the ratings of treating physicians, Drs. Nepola and Tearse, combine to a total 11 percent whole person impairment.  By the same chart, Dr. Manshadi’s ratings combine to a total 14 percent impairment.  Given this consistency, it is clear claimant’s functional impairment falls within the limited range outlined by these physicians and no opinion must be discounted.    

There is more notable variation amongst the permanent restrictions imposed and recommended by Drs. Tearse, Nepola, and Manshadi.  Drs. Tearse and Nepola acted as claimant’s treating physicians and by virtue of this relationship, had the opportunity to examine claimant on multiple occasions.  Both Drs. Tearse and Nepola performed surgery on claimant, providing them the best opportunity to examine claimant’s physical condition.  After surgery, claimant continued to follow with both physicians, including an ongoing course of corticosteroid injections with Dr. Nepola.  Given the sheer extent of access to claimant by these physicians, the undersigned finds it difficult to discount the opinions offered by Drs. Tearse and Nepola in favor of one-time evaluator, Dr. Manshadi.  The undersigned finds no compelling reason to discount the treating physician opinions, especially given each physician’s status as an orthopedic surgeon and in Dr. Nepola’s case, a shoulder specialist.  Given the above, the undersigned finds the opinions of Drs. Tearse and Nepola entitled to greater weight with respect to claimant’s permanent restrictions and adopts the restrictions as set forth by those physicians.  

Claimant remained in the employ of defendant for approximately 24 years.  During this time, claimant demonstrated an ability to perform skilled heavy equipment operation.  At the time of his bilateral shoulder injury, claimant grossed $914.00 per week doing such work.  Claimant demonstrated an ability and aptitude for such work, as he successfully remained in this field for the majority of his working life.  Any impairment or work restrictions which negatively impact claimant’s ability to engage in such work detrimentally affect his earning capacity.  

The work restrictions imposed by Drs. Tearse and Nepola with respect to claimant’s bilateral shoulder conditions foreclose claimant’s return to his pre-injury job as a road grader operator.  Mr. Estenson testified to this fact, relying upon claimant’s inability to climb into and out of his equipment.  Review of the other jobs performed during the course of claimant’s employment with defendant reveals claimant operated heavy equipment in each position he previously held with defendant.  Such work also would require claimant to climb in and out of equipment and thus, claimant is similarly foreclosed from returning to any of the positions he previously held at defendant.  Therefore, as a result of his bilateral shoulder injury, claimant is foreclosed from returning to any of the positions held within his 24 years of employment with defendant; such a loss represents a significant loss of earning capacity. 

Claimant is also foreclosed from returning to at least one of his previous occupations, farm labor.  Such work is physically demanding and often requires operation of large equipment.  These duties are beyond claimant’s permanent restrictions.  It is possible claimant could return, in some fashion, to previously held positions involving driving, landscaping, and pool maintenance.  Although certain forms of such work would be beyond claimant’s restrictions, lighter natured positions within these industries do exist for which claimant may qualify.  

Two vocational experts have offered opinions regarding claimant’s employability.  Ms. Sellner opined claimant’s work for defendant fell within the medium physical demand category.  Based upon the restrictions set forth by Drs. Nepola and Tearse, Ms. Sellner opined claimant was capable of working in the light physical demand category.  Thus, while claimant is unable to return to his prior positions with defendant, Ms. Sellner believes claimant is capable of returning to work.  By the logic of her opinion, claimant’s bilateral shoulder restrictions would still allow claimant to work in light or sedentary positions.  

The other vocational expert, Ms. Laughlin, also evaluated claimant’s employability under the restrictions set forth by Drs. Nepola and Tearse.  By her computerized analysis, claimant lost access to 100 percent of directly and closely transferable occupations, 95.1 percent of generally transferable occupations, and 98.6 percent of unskilled occupations.  The undersigned will not consider Ms. Laughlin’s general conclusions regarding employability at this juncture, as her opinions also consider claimant’s right knee and hearing loss/tinnitus conditions.  

After consideration of the two vocational opinions in evidence, it is determined the opinions of Ms. Sellner are entitled to greater weight with regard to claimant’s employability following the bilateral shoulder injury.  Ms. Sellner was retained to not only evaluate claimant’s employability in some abstract sense, but to identify potential employment opportunities for claimant and assist claimant with résumé development, interviewing skills, and job search efforts.  She identified positions for which claimant could potentially qualify and repeatedly reached out to claimant to offer vocational services.  Ms. Laughlin, on the contrary, performed a computerized analysis and offered no vocational services.  The undersigned is further troubled by the accuracy of these computer-generated conclusions, as Ms. Sellner opined claimant capable of functioning at the light, and accordingly sedentary, physical demand level.  While not a vocational expert, the undersigned fails to see how Ms. Laughlin’s conclusion that no more than 5 percent of occupations remain available to claimant could possibly correlate to a continued ability to function in both light and sedentary occupations.    

Following his resignation from defendant, claimant has done little to demonstrate motivation to continued employment.  Claimant applied for and began receiving Social Security disability benefits in February 2014.  He presented no written evidence or testimony regarding a work search or to support a finding he has considered seeking further employment.  Ms. Sellner’s repeated offers of vocational assistance have not been accepted.  That being said, claimant’s case is complicated by his requirement for ongoing medical treatment for his right knee.  As claimant has undergone surgery and remains in a period of recuperation, he has been physically unable to work.  Additionally, claimant expressed willingness to work with Ms. Sellner during his testimony.  Therefore, his lack of job search effort is mitigated to a degree.      

It must also be stated that a proper analysis of the extent of claimant’s industrial disability as a result of the January 10, 2011 bilateral shoulder injury also includes consideration of claimant’s condition immediately prior to the work-related injury, as claimant’s condition is viewed as a whole.  Specifically, in consideration of the extent of industrial disability sustained as a result of the January 10, 2011 bilateral shoulder injury, the undersigned also considers the impact of claimant’s previously imposed back restriction against working on notably uneven surfaces.  

Upon consideration of the above and all other relevant factors of industrial disability, it is determined claimant sustained a 60 percent industrial disability as a result of the stipulated work-related injury of January 10, 2011.  Such an award entitles claimant to 300 weeks of permanent partial disability benefits (60 percent x 500 weeks = 300 weeks), commencing on the date Dr. Tearse placed claimant at MMI following left shoulder surgery, March 25, 2013.  The parties stipulated at the time of the work injury, claimant’s gross weekly earnings were $914.00, and claimant was single and entitled to 1 exemption.  The proper rate of compensation is therefore, $545.95.

In File No. 5042748 (Date of Injury:  February 27, 2012 Right Knee):
The first issue for determination is whether the work injury of February 27, 2012 is a cause of temporary disability.  

The claimant has the burden of proving by a preponderance of the evidence that the injury is a proximate cause of the disability on which the claim is based.  A cause is proximate if it is a substantial factor in bringing about the result; it need not be the only cause.  A preponderance of the evidence exists when the causal connection is probable rather than merely possible.  George A. Hormel & Co. v. Jordan, 569 N.W.2d 148 (Iowa 1997); Frye v. Smith-Doyle Contractors, 569 N.W.2d 154 (Iowa App. 1997); Sanchez v. Blue Bird Midwest, 554 N.W.2d 283 (Iowa App. 1996).

The question of causal connection is essentially within the domain of expert testimony.  The expert medical evidence must be considered with all other evidence introduced bearing on the causal connection between the injury and the disability.  Supportive lay testimony may be used to buttress the expert testimony and, therefore, is also relevant and material to the causation question.  The weight to be given to an expert opinion is determined by the finder of fact and may be affected by the accuracy of the facts the expert relied upon as well as other surrounding circumstances.  The expert opinion may be accepted or rejected, in whole or in part.  St. Luke’s Hosp. v. Gray, 604 N.W.2d 646 (Iowa 2000); IBP, Inc. v. Harpole, 621 N.W.2d 410 (Iowa 2001); Dunlavey v. Economy Fire and Cas. Co., 526 N.W.2d 845 (Iowa 1995).  Miller v. Lauridsen Foods, Inc., 525 N.W.2d 417 (Iowa 1994).  Unrebutted expert medical testimony cannot be summarily rejected.  Poula v. Siouxland Wall & Ceiling, Inc., 516 N.W.2d 910 (Iowa App. 1994).

While a claimant is not entitled to compensation for the results of a preexisting injury or disease, its mere existence at the time of a subsequent injury is not a defense.  Rose v. John Deere Ottumwa Works, 247 Iowa 900, 76 N.W.2d 756 (1956).  If the claimant had a preexisting condition or disability that is materially aggravated, accelerated, worsened or lighted up so that it results in disability, claimant is entitled to recover.  Nicks v. Davenport Produce Co., 254 Iowa 130, 115 N.W.2d 812 (1962); Yeager v. Firestone Tire & Rubber Co., 253 Iowa 369, 112 N.W.2d 299 (1961).

Defendant admits claimant sustained a right knee injury on February 27, 2012.  Defendant provided medical care with Dr. Westpheling.  The fighting issue for determination is whether claimant’s subsequent medical care, claimant’s right knee surgery specifically, is causally related to the February 27, 2012 injury.  Defendant’s position is claimant’s right knee injury of February 27, 2012 was temporary in nature and resolved prior to claimant’s need for right knee surgery.  Two physicians, Drs. Westpheling and Manshadi, have offered opinions regarding the potential causal relationship between claimant’s work injury of February 27, 2012 and his need for surgery on September 11, 2013.  Defendant relies upon the opinion of Dr. Westpheling, while claimant relies upon the opinion of Dr. Manshadi.  

Dr. Westpheling served as the authorized provider.  On June 6, 2012, Dr. Westpheling assessed right knee bursitis with possible mild injury to the right medial meniscus.  As claimant was preparing to undergo left shoulder surgery on June 20, 2012 and would accordingly be off work for an extended period thereafter, Dr. Westpheling expressed belief claimant’s right knee symptoms would improve during this period.  On January 4, 2013, claimant returned to Dr. Westpheling with continued complaints of right knee pain.  Dr. Westpheling noted he had previously diagnosed claimant with right knee bursitis in June 2012, but claimant’s symptomatology at that time had been suspicious for a medial meniscus tear.  At Dr. Westpheling’s orders, claimant underwent a right knee MRI which Dr. Westpheling opined revealed degenerative findings and no evidence of acute injury, including an acute meniscal injury.  Dr. Westpheling then assessed degenerative joint disease of the right knee, which he opined was not caused by nor contributed to by claimant’s work activities.  

Following evaluation on April 3, 2013, Dr. Manshadi opined claimant presented with evidence of chondromalacia patella, as well as a probable meniscal injury.  While claimant’s MRI revealed old and chronic degenerative changes, Dr. Manshadi opined claimant’s light duty work aggravated the right knee joint.  He also opined claimant would ultimately require surgery upon the knee.    

While Dr. Westpheling ultimately opined claimant’s meniscal tear was degenerative in nature, his opinion does little to address a more common sense question of causation.  Claimant performed light duty work with an asymptomatic right knee and then suffered a stipulated work injury to that knee.  Initial evaluation of the right knee revealed a potential meniscal injury.  Claimant subsequently failed to improve and a meniscal injury was discovered.  Despite this undisputed chain of events, Dr. Westpheling opined claimant’s work did not contribute to the meniscal injury.  

While the tear itself appears, by the opinions of both Drs. Westpheling and Manshadi, to be degenerative in nature, the fact remains claimant’s degenerative knee condition was asymptomatic prior to the stipulated work injury.  Following the stipulated work injury, claimant’s knee became symptomatic, remained symptomatic, and ultimately required surgical intervention.  Dr. Manshadi’s opinion claimant’s light duty worked caused an aggravation of the knee joint is consistent with the facts of this case.  Dr. Westpheling’s opinion pertained only to causation of the meniscal injury itself, not to the possibility that the stipulated work injury materially aggravated, accelerated, worsened or lighted up claimant’s condition to the point of requiring surgical intervention.

For these reasons, it is determined the opinion of Dr. Manshadi is entitled to greater weight.  It is therefore determined claimant has established a causal relationship between the stipulated work injury of February 27, 2012 and his need for surgical treatment on September 11, 2013.  

The next issue for determination is whether claimant is entitled to a running award of temporary disability benefits from September 11, 2013 and continuing during the period claimant remains temporarily disabled.  

When an injured worker has been unable to work during a period of recuperation from an injury that did not produce permanent disability, the worker is entitled to temporary total disability benefits during the time the worker is disabled by the injury.  Those benefits are payable until the employee has returned to work, or is medically capable of returning to work substantially similar to the work performed at the time of injury.  Section 85.33(1). 

Healing period compensation describes temporary workers’ compensation weekly benefits that precede an allowance of permanent partial disability benefits.  Ellingson v. Fleetguard, Inc., 599 N.W.2d 440 (Iowa 1999).  Section 85.34(1) provides that healing period benefits are payable to an injured worker who has suffered permanent partial disability until the first to occur of three events.  These are:  (1) the worker has returned to work; (2) the worker medically is capable of returning to substantially similar employment; or (3) the worker has achieved maximum medical recovery.  Maximum medical recovery is achieved when healing is complete and the extent of permanent disability can be determined.  Armstrong Tire & Rubber Co. v. Kubli, Iowa App., 312 N.W.2d 60 (Iowa 1981).  Neither maintenance medical care nor an employee's continuing to have pain or other symptoms necessarily prolongs the healing period.

Claimant underwent right total knee arthroplasty with Dr. Nassif on September 11, 2013.  At evidentiary hearing, claimant testified he had not been released from medical care and had not returned to work in any capacity following surgery.  There is no contradictory evidence in the record.  On this basis, claimant is entitled to temporary total disability/healing period benefits beginning September 11, 2013 and continuing until such time as the entitlement to temporary benefits ends pursuant to Iowa Code section 85.33 or 85.34.  The parties stipulated at the time of the work injury, claimant’s gross weekly earnings were $914.00, and claimant was single and entitled to 1 exemption.  The proper rate of compensation is therefore, $556.11.

The next issue for determination is whether claimant is entitled to payment of various medical expenses. 

The employer shall furnish reasonable surgical, medical, dental, osteopathic, chiropractic, podiatric, physical rehabilitation, nursing, ambulance, and hospital services and supplies for all conditions compensable under the workers' compensation law.  The employer shall also allow reasonable and necessary transportation expenses incurred for those services.  The employer has the right to choose the provider of care, except where the employer has denied liability for the injury.  Section 85.27.  Holbert v. Townsend Engineering Co., Thirty-second Biennial Report of the Industrial Commissioner 78 (Review-Reopening October 16, 1975).
When dealing with unauthorized care, to be entitled to payment, claimant must establish the care was rendered on a compensable claim.  That being established, claimant must establish that the care provided on the compensable claim was both reasonable and the outcome more beneficial than the care offered by the defendants.  Bell Bros. Heating v. Gwinn, 779 N.W.2d 193, 206 (Iowa 2010).
Defendant initially provided treatment of claimant’s right knee injury with Dr. Westpheling.  After Dr. Westpheling opined the cause of claimant’s meniscal injury was not work-related, defendant ceased providing medical treatment.  Claimant then sought additional treatment on the then-denied medical claim.  Claimant seeks payment of such medical expenses as detailed in Exhibit 10 and reimbursement for medical mileage expenses incurred as detailed in Exhibit 11.    

By this decision, the undersigned found claimant’s right knee injury persisted beyond simply a temporary condition and in fact, necessitated claimant’s right knee surgery.  The condition necessitating surgery has been found to be work related and as defendant failed to provide any additional medical treatment, the treatment procured by claimant was reasonable.   However, as claimant remains in a period of recuperation, it cannot yet be determined if the medical care procured by claimant has proven beneficial.  Therefore, the issue of claimant’s entitlement to reimbursement for medical expenses and medical mileage is not considered in this decision, as the issue is not ripe.
The final issue for determination is whether claimant is entitled to reimbursement for an independent medical examination pursuant to Iowa Code section 85.39.

Section 85.39 permits an employee to be reimbursed for subsequent examination by a physician of the employee's choice where an employer-retained physician has previously evaluated “permanent disability” and the employee believes that the initial evaluation is too low.  The section also permits reimbursement for reasonably necessary transportation expenses incurred and for any wage loss occasioned by the employee attending the subsequent examination.
Defendants are responsible only for reasonable fees associated with claimant's independent medical examination.  Claimant has the burden of proving the reasonableness of the expenses incurred for the examination.  See Schintgen v. Economy Fire & Casualty Co., File No. 855298 (App. April 26, 1991).  Claimant need not ultimately prove the injury arose out of and in the course of employment to qualify for reimbursement under section 85.39.  See Dodd v. Fleetguard, Inc., 759 N.W.2d 133, 140 (Iowa App. 2008).

Previous agency decisions have supported awarding reimbursement for IME expenses in circumstances where claimant is released from medical care or returned to work without opinions on permanent impairment or permanent restrictions, where defendants delayed in securing such opinions from employer-retained physicians, or where the physician otherwise implied an evaluation of permanent impairment had been made.  (See Flynn v. John Deere Davenport Works, File Nos. 5030928, 5030940 (App. Nov. 21, 2011); Kuntz v. Clear Lake Bakery, File No. 1283423 (App. July 13, 2004); Barnett v. Altoona Manor, File No. 1036926 (Arb. May 19, 1994); Anderson v. GKN Armstrong Wheels, Inc., File No. 5003600 (Arb. September 7, 2004)).  In such cases, it was determined the conduct of the employer-retained physician was sufficient to trigger claimant’s entitlement to a section 85.39 IME evaluation. 

Defendant admits claimant sustained a work-related injury to his right knee on February 27, 2012 and referred claimant for medical treatment with Dr. Westpheling.  Approximately 7 months after the initial evaluation, Dr. Westpheling opined claimant’s meniscal injury was degenerative in nature.  At this point no additional medical treatment was offered.  The denial of liability on the meniscal injury does not change the fact claimant did in fact suffer a stipulated work injury on February 27, 2012.  He was provided medical treatment thereof and Dr. Westpheling released claimant from care without restrictions.  Dr. Westpheling’s release of claimant, without restrictions, is sufficient to trigger claimant’s entitlement to a section 85.39 IME, as it is, in essence an opinion on the permanent nature of claimant’s condition.  Accordingly, claimant is entitled to reimbursement for Dr. Manshadi’s IME in the amount of $1,500.00 as detailed in Exhibit 12.

In File No. 5042749 (Date of Injury:  November 17, 2012 Hearing Loss and Tinnitus):
The first issue for determination is whether claimant sustained an injury on November 17, 2012 which arose out of and in the course of his employment.  

The claimant has the burden of proving by a preponderance of the evidence that the alleged injury actually occurred and that it both arose out of and in the course of the employment.  Quaker Oats Co. v. Ciha, 552 N.W.2d 143 (Iowa 1996); Miedema v. Dial Corp., 551 N.W.2d 309 (Iowa 1996).  The words “arising out of” referred to the cause or source of the injury.  The words “in the course of” refer to the time, place, and circumstances of the injury.  2800 Corp. v. Fernandez, 528 N.W.2d 124 (Iowa 1995).  An injury arises out of the employment when a causal relationship exists between the injury and the employment.  Miedema, 551 N.W.2d 309.  The injury must be a rational consequence of a hazard connected with the employment and not merely incidental to the employment.  Koehler Elec. v. Wills, 608 N.W.2d 1 (Iowa 2000); Miedema, 551 N.W.2d 309.  An injury occurs “in the course of” employment when it happens within a period of employment at a place where the employee reasonably may be when performing employment duties and while the employee is fulfilling those duties or doing an activity incidental to them.  Ciha, 552 N.W.2d 143.

The record contains only one expert opinion on the issue of whether claimant sustained hearing loss and tinnitus arising out of and in the course of his employment.  The opinion is written by Dr. Tyler, a specialist well-recognized by this agency for his expertise.  Dr. Tyler authored an extensive report explaining the risk factors for hearing loss to which claimant was exposed, as well as discussion of the results of claimant’s hearing evaluations.  Following records review and interview of claimant, Dr. Tyler ultimately opined claimant’s hearing loss and tinnitus were probably experienced as a result of claimant’s work for defendant.  This opinion is unrebutted.  Accordingly, it is determined claimant has proven he sustained hearing loss and tinnitus arising out of and in the course of his employment with defendant. 

The next issue for determination is whether the alleged injury is a cause of permanent disability.  The final issue for determination is the extent of permanent disability, including whether claimant is permanently and totally disabled.  These issues shall be considered together.

The claimant has the burden of proving by a preponderance of the evidence that the injury is a proximate cause of the disability on which the claim is based.  A cause is proximate if it is a substantial factor in bringing about the result; it need not be the only cause.  A preponderance of the evidence exists when the causal connection is probable rather than merely possible.  George A. Hormel & Co. v. Jordan, 569 N.W.2d 148 (Iowa 1997); Frye v. Smith-Doyle Contractors, 569 N.W.2d 154 (Iowa App. 1997); Sanchez v. Blue Bird Midwest, 554 N.W.2d 283 (Iowa App. 1996).

The question of causal connection is essentially within the domain of expert testimony.  The expert medical evidence must be considered with all other evidence introduced bearing on the causal connection between the injury and the disability.  Supportive lay testimony may be used to buttress the expert testimony and, therefore, is also relevant and material to the causation question.  The weight to be given to an expert opinion is determined by the finder of fact and may be affected by the accuracy of the facts the expert relied upon as well as other surrounding circumstances.  The expert opinion may be accepted or rejected, in whole or in part.  St. Luke’s Hosp. v. Gray, 604 N.W.2d 646 (Iowa 2000); IBP, Inc. v. Harpole, 621 N.W.2d 410 (Iowa 2001); Dunlavey v. Economy Fire and Cas. Co., 526 N.W.2d 845 (Iowa 1995).  Miller v. Lauridsen Foods, Inc., 525 N.W.2d 417 (Iowa 1994).  Unrebutted expert medical testimony cannot be summarily rejected.  Poula v. Siouxland Wall & Ceiling, Inc., 516 N.W.2d 910 (Iowa App. 1994).

Dr. Tyler also authored the only opinion in evidence regarding the extent of claimant’s permanent impairment and need for permanent restrictions as a result of the hearing loss and tinnitus conditions.  Dr. Tyler opined he did not anticipate any improvement in either condition.  By his computation of hearing loss at multiple frequencies, Dr. Tyler opined claimant sustained a 14 percent binaural hearing loss.  By his computation of impairment caused as a result of tinnitus, Dr. Tyler opined claimant sustained a 6 percent whole person impairment.  

Due to claimant’s impaired ability to hear, Dr. Tyler recommended permanent restrictions against working around loud noises, no work around unpredictable noise levels, no work in dangerous situations which require concentration, no work in stressful situations, and no work in situations requiring auditory localization.  In addition to formal restrictions, Dr. Tyler indicated claimant’s high frequency hearing loss prevented claimant from hearing high frequency speech sounds such as “s,” “z,” “ch,” and “sh,” as well as noting women and children speak at a higher frequency than do men.  Dr. Tyler indicated claimant’s impediment could therefore render communication difficult.

Dr. Tyler’s opinion on the existence and extent of permanent impairment, as well as claimant’s need for permanent restrictions is unrebutted.  It is therefore determined claimant has established the hearing loss and tinnitus claims with a date of injury of November 17, 2012 are a cause of permanent disability. 

Accordingly, the extent of claimant’s permanent disability must be determined.  As a result of claimant’s workplace exposure, claimant has sustained a bilateral loss of hearing and suffers from tinnitus.  Tinnitus is not a sensorineural loss of hearing in one or both ears, because tinnitus does not cause a person to be unable to hear; instead, tinnitus causes a person to perceive sounds that do not exist.  Because tinnitus does not qualify under Iowa Code section 85B.4 (occupational hearing loss) nor under Iowa Code section 85.34(2)(r) (scheduled hearing loss), it is compensable under Iowa Code section 85.34(2)(u), the section for all other cases of permanent partial disability.  Consequently, the undersigned must measure claimant’s loss of earning capacity as a result of this impairment.  Ehteshamfar v. UTA Engineered Systems, 555 N.W.2d 450 (Iowa 1996). 

Claimant’s age, educational and work histories, and employment qualifications were addressed supra in discussion of claimant’s industrial disability in File No. 5038292 (Date of Injury: January 10, 2011 Bilateral Shoulders).  These factors will not be restated in conjunction with the industrial analysis of claimant’s hearing loss and tinnitus claims, but were properly considered in arriving at a determination of extent of industrial disability.

It must also be stated that a proper analysis of the extent of claimant’s industrial disability as a result of the November 17, 2012 hearing loss and tinnitus injury also includes consideration of claimant’s condition immediately prior to the work-related injury, as claimant’s condition is viewed as a whole.  Specifically, in consideration of the extent of industrial disability sustained as a result of the November 17, 2012 hearing loss and tinnitus injury, the undersigned also considers the impact of claimant’s January 10, 2011 bilateral shoulder injury and the 2005 back injury.  

Dr. Tyler’s opinions on the extent of claimant’s functional hearing loss and impairment as a result of tinnitus are unrebutted.  Also unrebutted are Dr. Tyler’s opinions on the claimant’s need for work restrictions.  Accordingly, Dr. Tyler’s opinions are adopted by the undersigned.  

In performing her vocational analysis, Ms. Laughlin completed a computerized analysis utilizing the restrictions set forth by Drs. Tearse and Nepola for the bilateral shoulders and Dr. Tyler for the hearing loss and tinnitus injury.  Utilizing these restrictions, Ms. Laughlin opined claimant lost access to 100 percent of directly, closely, and generally transferrable occupations, and 98.9 percent of unskilled occupations.  The undersigned will not consider Ms. Laughlin’s general opinions on employability as it is unclear which physician-imposed restrictions she relied upon in reaching her opinions.  While somewhat helpful, Ms. Laughlin’s computerized analysis does little to assist the undersigned in determining what positions remain available to claimant, if any.  Ms. Laughlin does not identify any positions available to claimant, did not perform a job search, and did not attempt to provide claimant vocational services.

Claimant has clearly suffered significant loss of earning capacity as a result of the hearing loss and tinnitus injury.  Most significant is the limitation in claimant’s ability to engage in and maintain conversations as a result of these conditions.  This loss is particularly significant given claimant’s bilateral shoulder injury previously limited claimant to only light and sedentary work.  An important component of many lighter nature positions is the ability to engage in conversation.  If claimant is unable to do so, this limitation precludes engagement in an important segment of previously available positions.  However, the record does not contain evidence claimant unsuccessfully sought work in any of these areas or attempted to use vocational services to locate a position.  As outlined supra, this lack of work search calls claimant’s motivation into question, albeit to a mitigated degree due to ongoing right knee care.      

Upon consideration of the above and all other relevant factors of industrial disability, it is determined claimant sustained a 80 percent industrial disability as a result of the stipulated work-related injury of November 17, 2012.  Such an award entitles claimant to 400 weeks of permanent partial disability benefits (80 percent x 500 weeks = 400 weeks), commencing on the stipulated date of November 17, 2012.  The parties stipulated at the time of the work injury, claimant’s gross weekly earnings were $914.00, and claimant was single and entitled to 1 exemption.  The proper rate of compensation is therefore, $557.98.

Defendant is entitled to a credit against this award based upon the permanent partial disability benefits awarded in File No. 5038292 (Date of Injury:  January 10, 2011) pursuant to Iowa Code section 85.34(7).  As a result of the bilateral shoulder injury of January 10, 2011, the undersigned determined claimant sustained a 60 percent industrial disability, an award of 300 weeks of permanent partial disability benefits.  Defendant is therefore entitled to a credit for 300 weeks of permanent partial disability benefits against the award of permanent partial disability benefits in File No. 5042749 (Date of Injury:  November 17, 2012 Hearing Loss and Tinnitus).

In all files:

The sole issue for determination is a specific taxation of costs pursuant to Iowa Code section 86.40 and rule 876 IAC 4.33.  Claimant requests taxation of the costs of:  $100.00 filing fee and $5.59 service fee for File No. 5038292 (Ex. 12, p. 3); $100.00 filing fee and $6.11 service fee for File Nos. 5042748 and 5042749 (Ex. 12, p. 3); $759.50 for Dr. Tyler’s report (Ex. 12, p. 5); $1,140.94 for Ms. Laughlin’s report (Ex. 12, p. 7); and $10.80 for copies of claimant’s file from defendant’s human resources department (Ex. 12, p. 8).  Defendant does not specifically contest taxation of these costs.  These are allowable costs and are taxed to defendant.

While claimant also requested taxation of Dr. Manshadi’s evaluation, the undersigned ordered reimbursement pursuant to section 85.39, rendering the question of taxation of this expense moot.  

ORDER

THEREFORE, IT IS ORDERED:

In File No. 5038292 (Date of Injury:  January 10, 2011 Bilateral Shoulders):
Defendant shall pay unto claimant three hundred (300) weeks of permanent partial disability benefits commencing March 25, 2013 at the weekly rate of five hundred forty-five and 95/100 dollars ($545.95). 

Defendant shall receive credit for benefits paid.

Defendant shall pay accrued weekly benefits in a lump sum.

Defendant shall pay interest on unpaid weekly benefits awarded herein as set forth in Iowa Code section 85.30.

In File No. 5042748 (Date of Injury:  February 27, 2012 Right Knee):
Defendant shall pay unto claimant temporary total disability/healing period benefits at the weekly rate of five hundred fifty-six and 11/100 dollars ($556.11) beginning September 11, 2013 and continuing until such time as the entitlement to temporary benefits ends pursuant to Iowa Code section 85.33 or 85.34.

Defendant shall reimburse claimant for Dr. Manshadi’s IME in the amount of one thousand five hundred and 00/100 dollars ($1,500.00).

Defendant shall pay accrued weekly benefits in a lump sum.

Defendant shall pay interest on unpaid weekly benefits awarded herein as set forth in Iowa Code section 85.30.

In File No. 5042749 (Date of Injury:  November 17, 2012 Hearing Loss and Tinnitus):
Defendant shall pay unto claimant four hundred (400) weeks of permanent partial disability benefits commencing on the stipulated date of November 17, 2012, at the weekly rate of five hundred fifty-seven and 98/100 dollars ($557.98). 

Defendant shall receive credit of three hundred (300) weeks for permanent partial disability benefits awarded in File No. 5038292 as set forth in the decision.

Defendant shall pay accrued weekly benefits in a lump sum.

Defendant shall pay interest on unpaid weekly benefits awarded herein as set forth in Iowa Code section 85.30.

In all files: 

Defendant shall file subsequent reports of injury as required by this agency pursuant to rule 876 IAC 3.1(2).

Costs are taxed to defendant pursuant to rule 876 IAC 4.33.
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Signed and filed this _____29th______ day of January, 2015.
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Attorney at Law
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Attorney at Law
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Cedar Rapids, IA  52406-1468

jeff.clark@linncounty.org
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32 IF  = 31 “Right to Appeal:  This decision shall become final unless you or another interested party appeals within 20 days from the date above, pursuant to rule 876 4.27 (17A, 86) of the Iowa Administrative Code.  The notice of appeal must be in writing and received by the commissioner’s office within 20 days from the date of the decision.  The appeal period will be extended to the next business day if the last day to appeal falls on a weekend or a legal holiday.  The notice of appeal must be filed at the following address:  Workers’ Compensation Commissioner, Iowa Division of Workers’ Compensation, 1000 E. Grand Avenue, Des Moines, Iowa  50319-0209.” 


